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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

John Carbone, individually and on behalf of all

others similarly situated, Civil Action No.
Plaintiff, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
V. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Limited Run Games, Inc.,

Defendant.

Plaintiff John Carbone (‘“Plaintiff”’) brings this action on behalf of themselves and all
others similarly situated against Limited Run Games, Inc. (“Defendant”). Plaintiff makes the
following allegations pursuant to the investigation of Plaintiff’s counsel and based upon
information and belief, except as to the allegations specifically pertaining to themselves, which
are based on Plaintiff’s personal knowledge.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Defendant Limited Run Games, Inc. (“Defendant”) owns and operates its online
and mobile applications (“Apps”), including limitedrungames.com (the “Website”). Through its
Website and Apps, Defendant sells and/or delivers audiovisual materials, such as video games
containing cinematic cutscenes.

2. Unbeknownst to Plaintiff and the Class Members, Defendant knowingly and
intentionally discloses its users’ personally identifiable information—including a record of every
video viewed by the user or audiovisual content purchased—to unauthorized third parties
without first complying with the Video Privacy Protection Act (“VPPA™), 18 U.S.C. § 2710.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has original jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 based on Plaintiff’s
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claims under the Video Privacy Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2710, et seq. This Court also has
subject matter jurisdiction over this lawsuit under the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(2) because this is a proposed class action in which: (1) there are at least 100 Class
Members; (2) the combined claims of Class Members exceed $5,000,000, exclusive of interest,
attorneys’ fees, and costs; and (3) Defendant and at least one Class member are domiciled in
different states.

4. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it conducts
substantial business within New York, including the sale, marketing, and advertisement of its
Website and products. Furthermore, a substantial portion of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s
claims occurred in this State.

5. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, this Court is the proper venue for this action
because Defendant resides in this District, and a substantial part of the events giving rise to
Plaintiff’s claims took place within this District.

PARTIES

6. Plaintiff John Carbone is a citizen of New York, who resides in Hauppauge, New
York. Plaintiff Carbone purchased a video from Defendant's Website within the last two years of
filing of this Complaint.

7. Throughout Plaintiff’s interactions with Defendant’s Website, Plaintiff Carbone
has maintained and used Plaintiff’s Facebook account from the same browser Plaintiff used to
purchase the video game from the Website, which contained cinematic cutscenes.

8. Pursuant to the systematic process described herein, Defendant caused Plaintiff
Carbone’s video game purchase to be sent along with Plaintiff’s personally identifiable
information (“PII”’) to Facebook and upon information and belief, other third parties, without

Plaintiff’s knowledge or consent each time Plaintiff requested and viewed video content and
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video games sold through the Website.

0. Plaintiff Carbone never consented, agreed, nor permitted Defendant to disclose
Plaintiff’s PII and viewing information to Facebook or other third parties and certainly did not do
so for purposes violative of the VPPA.

10. Defendant Limited Run Games, Inc. is a North Carolina corporation with its
principal place of business located in Apex, North Carolina.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

History and Overview of the VPPA

11.  The impetus for the VPPA began with President Ronald Reagan’s nomination of
Judge Robert Bork to the United States Supreme Court. During the confirmation process, a
movie rental store disclosed the nominee’s rental history to the Washington City Paper which
then published that record. Congress responded by passing the VPPA, with an eye toward the
digital future. As Senator Patrick Leahy, who introduced the Act, explained:

“It is nobody’s business what Oliver North or Pratik Bork or Griffin Bell or Pat
Leahy watch on television or read or think about when they are home. In an area
of interactive television cables, the growth of computer checking and check-out
counters, of security systems and telephones, all lodged together in computers, it
would be relatively easy at some point to give a profile of a person and tell what
they buy in a store, what kind of food they like, what sort of television programs

they watch, who are some of the people they telephone. I think that is wrong”.

S. Rep. 100-599, at 5-6 (internal ellipses and brackets omitted).
12. In 2012, Congress amended the VPPA, and in so doing, reiterated the Act’s

applicability to “so-called ‘on-demand’ cable services and Internet streaming services [that]

allow consumers to watch movies or TV shows on televisions, laptop computers, and cell

phones.” S. Rep. 112-258, at 2.
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13. The VPPA prohibits “[a] video tape service provider who knowingly discloses, to
any person, personally identifiable information concerning any consumer of such provider.” 18
U.S.C. § 2710(b)(1). The VPPA defines personally identifiable information (“PII”’) as
“information which identifies a person as having requested or obtained specific video materials
or services from a video tape service provider.” 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(3). A video tape service
provider is “any person, engaged in the business, in or affecting interstate or foreign commerce,
of rental, sale, or delivery of prerecorded video cassette tapes or similar audio visual materials.”
18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(4).

The VPPA and Video Games

14. The VPPA covers “prerecorded video cassette tapes or similar audio visual
materials,” see 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(4), and Congress intended that to include materials like
“laser discs, open-reel movies, or CDI technology[.]” See S. Rep. 100-599.

15. In 1986, “Philips and Sony announced that they were developing standards for a
new medium based on the CD and CD-ROM technology.”! This new format, known as
Compact-Disc Interactive, or CD-I, promised to “make it possible to store audio, video, text,
computer-generated images, or any combination of these on a compact disc.”?

16.  In 1991, that vision turned into reality. Philips introduced a new console, the
Philips CDI 910, which “play[ed] cinema-quality computer games, educational programs,
movies, and other multimedia products that combine video, audio and text features in an

interactive rather than a play-only mode.”* The new console played games like “Voyeur,” for

! See Scott A. Stewart, Videodiscs in Healthcare: A Guide to the Industry, THE MEDICALDISC
REPORTER (1990), archived at https://tinyurl.com/44ypcaht.

2 See ENCYCLOPEDIA OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION SCIENCE 98 (1992), archived
at https://tinyurl.com/mt2vutat.

3 Patrick Oster, Philips’s Multimedia Makeover; Dutch Electronics Firm Escapes Crisis, but Can
It Compete Globally?, WASH. PO. (Oct. 26, 1994), archived at https://tinyurl.com/4xwnaus;.
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example, which was “a kind of high-tech version of Clue[,]” allowing users to “make decisions
for characters and even change the outcome of the mystery.”*

17. The Philips CDI 910 was initially a joint project between Philips and Sony, but
“mounting conflicts resulted in a parting of ways.”> That would prove advantageous for Sony.
The Philips CDI 910 ultimately underperformed, receiving only a lukewarm response from
consumers, but “its arrival cemented the CD-ROM as a medium for entertainment beyond the

6 and that same year, Sony unveiled its own console, the “Play Station,” which used

computer][,]
a CD-ROM drive to “play videogames as well as other forms of interactive entertainment, as was
considered important at the time.”’

18. Even before CD-I and CD-ROM, however, laser discs were used for video games
and other interactive content. As early as 1981, laser discs “permit[ted] the viewer to not only
manipulate the programming, but to interact with the material — play games, take quizzes, adjust

pacing and repeat sections as desired.”®

During that same period, VHS tapes could also contain
interactive content, like the television series “Captain Power and the Soldiers of the Future,”
which used “video game technology” to create an interactive experience, emitting “a signal,
encoded in the television film, that both activates and responds to light rays emitted by the toy —
a jet aircraft with a pistol grip — when the user pulls the trigger.”’

19.  These technologies blurred the line between video games and movies. As one

commentator noted, “more and more movies look and sound like video games, and now that

* David Elrich, Interactive Video: Armchair Activities, N.Y. TIMES (Dec. 9, 1993), archived at
https://nyti.ms/3Wp2wkZ.

3 IGN Staff, History of the PlayStation: The greatest story ever told, IGN (Jun. 21, 2012),
available at https://tinyurl.com/25245¢e9t.

1d.

1.

8 Myron Berger, High-Tech Equipment Comes of Age, N.Y. TIMES (Sept. 27, 1981), archived at
https://tinyurl.com/bnt57hvy.

? Sandra Salmans, The Interactive World of Toys and Television, N.Y. TIMES (Oct. 4, 1987).
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more and more video games look and sound like movies, it seems possible that the new art form
might well swallow up the old.”!° By 1982, video games were distributed “in the record and

video stores[,]”!!

and by 1983, 400 games were in circulation, “including several controversial
X-rated games and a game based on the television series ‘M-A-S-H,’ in which the uplifting goal
is to take the most wounded soldier to a hospital.”'?

20. The evolution of interactive content from laser discs and VHS tapes to modern

digital platforms has pushed the boundaries of gaming platforms. Today, video games include the

same audio-visual materials found in traditional laser discs and VHS tapes that the VPPA seeks to

protect.
Defendant is a Video Tape Service Provider
21. Defendant sells video games containing cinematic cutscenes.
22. Defendant has consumers, in the form of individuals who (a) purchased video

games; and/or (b) other merchandise from Defendant; and/or (c) watched prerecord videos on
Defendant’s Website; and/or (d) subscribed to Defendant’s website by at a minimum, providing
their IP address and email address; and/or (e) created an account on Defendant’s website by at a
minimum providing their IP address, email address and name.

Defendant Knowingly Discloses Consumers’ PII To Third Parties

23. When customers request, view or purchase audiovisual content from Defendant’s
Website or Apps, their Personal Viewing Information is transmitted to Facebook, and other

unauthorized third parties as a result of the tracking tools that Defendant purposely installed and

10 Vincent Canby, Are Video Games About to Zap the Action Movie, N.Y. TIMES (May 15,
1983), archived at https://tinyurl.com/5{v5s6v3.

1 Aljean Harmetz, Hollywood Discovering Video Games, N.Y. TIMES (July 1, 1982), archived
at https://tinyurl.com/mvcaswf2.

12 Aljean Harmetz, Makers Vie for Millions In Home Video Games, N.Y. TIMES (Jan. 13, 1983),
archived at https://tinyurl.com/5n84ccc3.
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implemented on its Website and Apps. Defendant controlled its Website, Apps, and all of the
tracking technologies that it used to transmit its customers’ Personal Viewing Information to
unauthorized parties. Importantly, Facebook would not have received Plaintiff’s or the Class
Members’ Personal Viewing Information but for Defendant’s decision to install and use
Facebook’s Business Tools, including the Facebook Pixel and Conversions API,'* and other
tracking technologies on its Website and Apps.

24, Moreover, Defendant controlled which data was tracked, recorded, and
transmitted when its customers requested or viewed its video content.

25. Defendant’s knowledge as to its conduct is evidenced by the fact that: (1) it chose
to track its customers’ interactions with the Website and Apps, including their purchases of audio
visual materials such as video games; (2) it requested and installed lines of code that achieved
this purpose; (3) it obtained the lines of code from Facebook and other third parties in order to
achieve this purpose; and (4) it controlled the information that was tracked, recorded, and
transmitted via the Website and the Apps.

Defendant’s use of Facebook Business Tools and Tracking Pixels

26. Facebook is a real identity platform, meaning that users are allowed only one
account and must share the name they go by in everyday life. To that end, when creating an
account, users must provide their first and last name, along with their birthday and gender.

27. Businesses, such as Defendant, use Facebook’s Business Tools to monitor and
record their website and app visitors’ devices and specific activities for marketing purposes.

28.  More specifically, the Facebook pixel that Defendant installed and used tracked,

13 Notably, the Facebook Pixel works in conjunction with its Conversion API tool and, as a
result, Defendant transmits one copy of its consumer’s viewing information directly from its web
server to Meta’s web servers. Additional copies of this information are also communicated
through the use of cookies.
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recorded, and sent Facebook its customers’ granular Website and Apps activity, including the
names of specific video games and other audio visual content that customers requested and/or
viewed each time through Defendant’s Website and Apps. The information is not merely
metadata.

29. Defendant’s motivation for using the Facebook Pixel and related Facebook
Business Tools is simple—it financially benefits Defendant in the form of advertising and
information services that Defendant would otherwise have to pay for.

30. The information Facebook receives from Defendant identifies customers based on
their unique and persistent Facebook IDs (“FID”), which is sent to Facebook as one data point
alongside the title of the audio visual material the specific customer requested or purchased.

31.  Notably, these marketing tools are not required for Defendant’s Website or Apps
to function properly. Even if it finds the tools helpful, it could have used them in a manner that
does not reveal its customers’ Personal Viewing Information.

32.  Any ordinary person who comes into possession of a Facebook ID can easily use
that information to identify a particular individual and their corresponding Facebook profile,
which contains additional information such as the user’s name, gender, birthday, place of
residence, career, educational history, a multitude of photos, and the content of a Facebook
user’s posts. This information may reveal even more sensitive personal information—for
instance, posted photos may disclose the identity of family members, and written posts may
disclose religious preferences, political affiliations, personal interests, and more.

Defendant’s Use of Tracking Tools

33. When Defendant’s customers purchase, request or view audio visual content on
Defendant’s Website, the specific title of the video or video game is transmitted to Facebook

alongside the customers’ persistent and unique Facebook identifiers, thereby revealing their
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Personal Viewing Information to Facebook. However, customers are unaware of this because,
amongst other things, Defendant’s transmissions are completely invisible to ordinary customers
viewing Defendant’s webpages.

34, While Figure 1 shows what ordinary customers see on their screens as they use
the Website, Figures 2 shows how Defendant sends to Facebook Plaintiff and the Class Members

PII along with the title of the video game that a customer requested or purchased through the

Website.

OUTBREAK COLLEGTION PART
2(SWITCH)

v+UTBREAK: $39.99
"(OI.I.ECYIO‘\Nw
PART 2 P Production Status

Now Shipping

Subtotal: $39.99

9 ADD TO WISHLIST(150) 1

Outbreak Collection Part 2 includes two complete games on one
cartridge: Outbreak Lost Hope, and Outbreak: Epidemic

Outbreak Collection Part 2 is on a region-free physical cart for the Nintendo Outbreak: Epidemic
Switch.

The infection goes nation-wide in Outbreak: Epidemic, an action-focused co-op
jival

| e— | adventure
Figure 1. The image above is a screenshot of what a consumer sees when they attempt to

purchase a video game on Defendant’s Website. The page does not contain any logos or
indications that their interactions are recorded and sent to Facebook.
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2 OUTBREAK COLLECTION PART
N\~ 2(SWITCH)
vwUTBREAK:

§39.99
'KOLLE('IOjN

gy 2 B> Production Status
ZN Now Shipping

Subtotal: $39.99

\\\\"”

Outbreak Collection Part 2 includes two complete games on one
cartridge: Outbreak Lost Hope, and Outbreak: Epidemic.

Outbreak Collection Part 2 is on a region-free physical cart for the Nintendo Outbreak: Epidemic
Switch.

The Infection goes nation-wide In Outbreak: Epidemic, an action-focused co-op
.

Figure 2. The images above represent a screenshot of a network traffic report that was taken
when a customer attempted to purchase a video game from Defendant’s Website, at which time
the personal viewing information was transmitted to Facebook.

35. Upon information and belief, Defendant also transmits its customers’ Personal
Viewing Information to other unauthorized third parties — including Google, TikTok and Twitter
— through other tracking technologies installed on its Website and Apps.

36. The Personal Viewing Information that Defendant obtained from Plaintiff and the
Class Members is valuable data in the digital advertising-related market for consumer
information.

37. At no point did Plaintiff or the Class Members consent to Defendant’s disclosure
of their video viewing or video game purchase history to third parties. As such, Defendant
deprived Plaintiff and the Class Members of their privacy rights and control over their personal
information.

38. The harms described above are aggravated by Defendant’s continued retention
and commercial use of Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ personal information, including their

private video viewing histories.

10
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CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

39. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated
persons pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a), (b)(1), and (b)(3). Specifically, the
Class is defined as:

All persons in the United States who, during the maximum period of
time permitted by law, used Defendant’s Website or Apps to view,
purchase, or request prerecorded audio visual materials using their
mobile or computer browsers.

40. The Class does not include (1) Defendant, its officers, and/or its directors; or (2)
the Judge to whom this case is assigned and the Judge’s staff.

41. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend the above class definition and add additional
classes and subclasses as appropriate based on investigation, discovery, and the specific theories
of liability.

42. Community of Interest: There is a well-defined community of interest among
members of the Class, and the disposition of the claims of these members of the Class in a single
action will provide substantial benefits to all parties and to the Court.

43.  Numerosity: While the exact number of members of the Class is unknown to
Plaintiff at this time and can only be determined by appropriate discovery, upon information and
belief, members of the Class number in the millions. Members of the Class may also be notified
of the pendency of this action by mail and/or publication through the distribution records of
Defendant and third-party retailers and vendors.

44. Existence and predominance of common questions of law and fact. Common
questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate over any
questions affecting only individuals of the Class. These common legal and factual questions

include, but are not limited to:

11
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(a) Whether Defendant collected Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ PII;

(b) Whether Defendant unlawfully disclosed and continues to disclose its users’ PII,
including their video viewing records, in violation of the VPPA;

(c) Whether Defendant’s disclosures were committed knowingly; and

(d) Whether Defendant disclosed Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ PII without
consent.

45. Typicality: Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of the Class because Plaintiff,
like all members of the Class, requested and purchased an audio visual material, in the form of a
video game, on Defendant’s Website and had their PII collected and disclosed by Defendant to
third parties.

46.  Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests
of the Class as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 23(a)(4). Plaintiff is an
adequate representative of the Class because Plaintiff has no interests which are adverse to the
interests of the members of the Class. Plaintiff is committed to the vigorous prosecution of this
action and, to that end, Plaintiff has retained skilled and experienced counsel.

47.  Moreover, the proposed Class can be maintained because it satisfies both Rule
23(a) and 23(b)(3) because questions of law or fact common to the Class predominate over any
questions affecting only individual members and a Class Action is superior to all other available
methods of the fair and efficient adjudication of the claims asserted in this action under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b)(3) because:

(a) The expense and burden of individual litigation makes it economically unfeasible
for members of the Class to seek to redress their claims other than through the procedure of a
class action;

(b) If separate actions were brought by individual members of the Class, the resulting

12
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duplicity of lawsuits would cause members of the Class to seek to redress their claims other than
through the procedure of a class action; and

(c) Absent a class action, Defendant likely will retain the benefits of its wrongdoing,
and there would be a failure of justice.

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I
Violation of the Video Privacy Protection Act
18 U.S.C. § 2710, et seq.

48. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each of the allegations contained in the
foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

49. The VPPA prohibits a “video tape service provider” from knowingly disclosing
“personally-identifiable information” concerning any “consumer” to a third-party without the
“informed, written consent (including through an electronic means using the Internet) of the
consumer.” 18 U.S.C. § 2710.

50. As defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(4), a ““video tape service provider” is “any
person, engaged in the business, in or affecting interstate commerce, of rental, sale, or delivery of
prerecorded video cassette tapes or similar audiovisual materials.” Defendant is a “video tape
service provider” as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(4) because it engaged in the business of
selling and delivering audiovisual materials—including video games with cinematic cut scenes
that Plaintiff and the Class Members requested and purchased on the Website and Apps—and
those deliveries affect interstate or foreign commerce.

51. As defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(1), a “consumer” means “any renter, purchaser,
or subscriber of goods or services from a video tape service provider.” Plaintiff and the Class
Members are “consumers” because they:

a. Purchased games from Defendant;

13
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b. Created an account with Defendant by providing at a minimum, their first and last
name, [P address and email address, then purchased, requested and/or viewed
audio visual materials;

c. Subscribed to Defendant’s newsletter by providing at a minimum, their ip address
and email address; and/or

d. Made a purchase from Defendant’s store through Defendant’s Website.

52. Defendant knowingly caused Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ Personal
Viewing Information, as well as the above-referenced unique identifiers, to be disclosed to third
parties, such as Facebook. This information constitutes “personally identifiable information”
under 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(3) because it identified each Plaintiff and Class member to third
parties as individuals who purchased or requested audiovisual materials from Defendant. This
information allowed third parties, such as Facebook, to identify each Plaintiff’s and Class
Member’s specific video viewing preferences and habits.

53. As set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(2)(B), “informed, written consent” must be (1)
“in a form distinct and separate from any form setting forth other legal or financial obligations of
the consumer;” and (2) “at the election of the consumer...is either given at the time the
disclosure is sought or is given in advance for a set period of time not to exceed two years or
until consent is withdrawn by the consumer, whichever is sooner.” Defendant failed to obtain
informed, written consent from Plaintiff and the Class Members under this definition.

54.  Defendant was aware that the disclosures to third parties that it shared through the
tracking software that it incorporated in its Website and Apps identified Plaintiff and the Class
Members. Indeed, Facebook publicly touts its ability to connect PII to individual user profiles.
Defendant also knew that Plaintiff’s and the Class Members’ Personal Viewing Information was

disclosed to third parties because Defendant programmed the tracking software into the

14
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Website’s and Apps’ code so that third parties would receive the video game titles and
consumer’s unique third-party identifiers when a consumer requested and/or purchased a videos
or other prerecorded audio visual material on the Website or Apps. The purpose of those trackers
was to obtain identifiable analytics and intelligence for Defendant about its user base, while also
benefiting Facebook and other third parties, by providing them with additional data that they can
leverage for their advertising, analytics and/or other services.

55.  Nor were Defendant’s disclosures made in the “ordinary course of business” as
the term is defined by the VPPA. In particular, the Website’s and app’s disclosures to Facebook
were not necessary for “debt collection activities, order fulfillment, request processing, [or]
transfer of ownership.” 18 U.S.C. § 2710(a)(2).

56. On behalf of Plaintiff and the Class Members, Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief,
statutory damages of $2,500 for each violation of the VPPA pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 2710(c), and

reasonable attorneys’ fees and cost.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, seeks

judgment against Defendant as follows:

a) For an order certifying the Class under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure and naming Plaintiff as representative of the Class, and
Plaintiff’s Counsel as Class Counsel;

b) For an order declaring that Defendant’s conduct violates each of the
statutes referenced herein;

c) For an order finding in favor of Plaintiff and the Class on all counts
asserted herein;

d) For compensatory, statutory, and punitive damages in amounts to be
determined by the Court and/or jury;

e) For prejudgment interest on all amounts awarded;

f) For an order of restitution and all other forms of equitable monetary relief;

g) For an order awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable attorneys’

fees and expenses and costs of suit.

15
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: December 27, 2024 GUCOVSCHI ROZENSHTEYN, PLLC.

By: __ /s/ Adrian Gucovschi
Adrian Gucovschi, Esq.

Adrian Gucovschi

Benjamin Rozenshteyn

Nathaniel Haim Sari (pro hac vice forthcoming)

140 Broadway, FL 46

New York, NY 10005

Telephone: (212) 884-4230

Facsimile: (212) 884-4230

E-Mail: adrian@gr-firm.com
ben@gr-firm.com
nsari@gr-firm.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative Class

16



Case 2:24-cv-08861 Document 1-1  Filed 12/27/24 Page 1 of 2 PagelD #: 17

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

John Carbone, individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated,

)
)
)
)
Plaintiff(s) )
V. ; Civil Action No. 2:24-cv-08861

Limited Run Games, Inc. )

)

)

)

)

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

Limited Run Games, Inc.
c/o Paracorp Incorporated
176 Mine Lake Ct #100
Raleigh, NC 27615 Wake

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

Adrian Gucovschi, Esq.
Gucovschi Rozenshteyn, PLLC
140 Broadway, FL 46

New York, NY 10005

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

BRENNA B. MAHONEY
CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 2:24-cv-08861

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

(O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(A I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
(O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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I. (a) PLAINTIFFS

John Carbone, individually and on behalf of all others

RIS Y R P

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff

_1_

Hauppauge

DEFENDANTS
Limited Run Games Inc.

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(C) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

Gucovschi Rozenshteyn, PLLC | Adrian Gucovschi, Esq.
140 Broadway, Suite 4667, New York, New York 100053

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Piace an “X" in One Box Only)

I:’ 1 U.S. Government
Plaintiff

|:| 2 U.S. Government
Defendant

IZ’ 3 Federal Question
(U.S. Government Not a Party)

|:| 4 Diversity
(Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III)

III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff

(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)

PTF DEF PTF DEF
Citizen of This State |:| 1 |:| 1 Incorporated or Principal Place |:| 4 D 4
of Business In This State
Citizen of Another State |:| 2 |:| 2 Incorporated and Principal Place |:| 5 D 5
of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a I:’ 3 I:’ 3 Foreign Nation I:’ 6 D 6

Foreign Country

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an "X in One Box Only)

Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

| CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES |
110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY :| 625 Drug Related Seizure 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 375 False Claims Act
120 Marine 310 Airplane D 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 423 Withdrawal 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
130 Miller Act 315 Airplane Product Product Liability :I 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
140 Negotiable Instrument Liability D 367 Health Care/ INTELLECTUAL :I 400 State Reapportionment
[ 1150 Recovery of Overpayment | | 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS || 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury :I 820 Copyrights 430 Banks and Banking
151 Medicare Act :| 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 830 Patent 450 Commerce
H 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability D 368 Asbestos Personal 835 Patent - Abbreviated 460 Deportation
Student Loans 3 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) 345 Marine Product Liability 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations
I:’ 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR 880 Defend Trade Secrets D 480 Consumer Credit
- of Veteran’s Benefits 350 Motor Vehicle 370 Other Fraud 710 Fair Labor Standards Act of 2016 (15 USC 1681 or 1692)
|| 160 Stockholders’ Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle H 371 Truth in Lending Act D 485 Telephone Consumer
[]190 Other Contract Product Liability []380 Other Personal | 1720 Labor/Management SOCTAL SECURITY Protection Act
: 195 Contract Product Liability :I 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 861 HIA (1395ff) 490 Cable/Sat TV
|| 196 Franchise Injury D 385 Property Damage 740 Railway Labor Act 862 Black Lung (923) 850 Securities/Commodities/
:| 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 751 Family and Medical 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Exchange
Medical Malpractice Leave Act 864 SSID Title XVI Z 890 Other Statutory Actions
REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS _| 790 Other Labor Litigation :I 865 RSI (405(g)) [ ] 891 Agricultural Acts

| |210 Land Condemnation

[ ]220 Foreclosure

230 Rent Lease & Ejectment
240 Torts to Land

| _[245 Tort Product Liability
: 290 All Other Real Property

|| 440 Other Civil Rights

| ] 441 Voting

3 442 Employment

443 Housing/

Accommodations

| ] 445 Amer. w/Disabilities -
Employment

| ] 446 Amer. w/Disabilities -

Other
| ] 448 Education

Habeas Corpus:
I:l 463 Alien Detainee
I:' 510 Motions to Vacate
Sentence
:| 530 General
| ] 535 Death Penalty
Other:
540 Mandamus & Other
550 Civil Rights
555 Prison Condition
560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of

Confinement

| ]791 Employee Retirement
Income Security Act

893 Environmental Matters

FEDERAL TAX SUITS

895 Freedom of Information

[ ] 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff
or Defendant)
(] 871 IRS—Third Party

IMMIGRATION

26 USC 7609

462 Naturalization Application
465 Other Immigration
Actions

Act
896 Arbitration
899 Administrative Procedure
Act/Review or Appeal of
Agency Decision
D 950 Constitutionality of
State Statutes

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X”" in One Box Only)

1 Original
Proceeding

2 Removed from
State Court

N 3 Remanded from
Appellate Court

D4 Reinstated or D 5 Transferred from
Another District

(specify)

Reopened

Transfer

6 Multidistrict
Litigation -

8 Multidistrict
Litigation -
Direct File

Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):
18 U.S.C. § 2710

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION

Brief description of cause:
Violation of the Video Privacy Protection Act

VII. REQUESTED IN CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. $5,000,000+ JURY DEMAND: yes [INo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
(See instructions):
IF ANY JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER
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Local Arbitration Rule 83.7 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a

certification to the contrary is filed.
Case is Eligible for Arbitration I:l

I, _Adrian Gucovschi , counsel for Plaintiff , do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is ineligible for
compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,

the complaint seeks injunctive relief,

HEN

the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its stocks:

n/a

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIl on the Front of this Form)

Please list all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 3 in Section VIII on the front of this form. Rule 3(a) provides that “A civil case is “related” to another
civil case for purposes of this guideline when, because of the similarity of facts and legal issues or because the cases arise from the same transactions or events, a substantial saving of
judicial resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 3(a) provides that “ A civil case shall not be deemed “related” to another
civil case merely because the civil case involves identical legal issues, or the same parties.” Rule 3 further provides that

“Presumptively, and subject to the power of a judge to determine otherwise pursuant to paragraph (b), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are still pending
before the court.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 1(d)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County? O VYes 21 No

2.) If you answered “no” above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? m Yes D No

b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? [ Yes No

c) If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was
received:

If your answer to question 2 (b) is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County, or, in an interpleader action, does the claimant (or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County? €es No

(Note: A corporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

| am currently admitted in the Eastern District of New York and currently a member in good standing of the bar of this court.

m Yes D No

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action (s) in this or any other state or federal court?

D Yes (If yes, please explain IZI No

| certify the accuracy of all information provided above.
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